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Paolo Veronese


Feast in the House of Levi (detail)


see Fig. 103





Introduction


The title of this book may suggest a distinction between ‘Renaissance art’ on the one hand, and ‘Venice’ on the other. These two entities were neither fixed nor separate, and their subtle and creative interaction lies at the heart of the discussion offered here; nonetheless, they did not always sit comfortably together. The coming of the Renaissance style undoubtedly represented a cultural departure in Venice. The roll call of famous ‘name’ painters, sculptors and architects whose work is discussed below, from the Bellini, the Lombardi and Codussi through to Sansovino, Titian, Tintoretto and Palladio, indicates the new significance of artistic individuals in the Renaissance centuries. These figures introduced personalized styles that marked a change from the traditional Venetian preference for anonymity and collaboration in artistic production.


It is sometimes argued that Venetian artistic culture remained closely tied to the city’s medieval state and religious institutions. From this perspective, Venetian art provides a conservative contrast to that in other Italian cities, such as Florence and Rome. In these other centres, emphasis was laid on ‘design’ or disegno: a key concept which referred at once to the use of preparatory drawings; the definition of three-dimensional form and space; and the preconceived idea of the work in the artist’s mind. It has been pointed out that this preoccupation with the intellectual or even quasi-scientific aspects of art had less purchase in Venice, where a sensual taste for colour (colore) and highly worked surfaces continued, drawing on the traditions of Veneto-Byzantine and Gothic art. Artists and architects offered a more intuitive visual response to the ever-changing play of light on the reflective surfaces of the lagoon city.


Yet it is possible to exaggerate the role of colore as the defining aesthetic in Venice, as also the related idea that an all-pervasive ‘Venetian-ness’ (Venezianità) determined artistic developments. Such a view does little to explain the more dynamic dimensions of art and architecture in this period, and fails to account for the radical changes in their appearances. The approach taken in this book highlights the Renaissance as a time of artistic transformation, in which older techniques, materials and conventions were often evoked, but just as often challenged or denied. The discussion below is closely based on key examples, and is presented in a chronological manner, to develop a sense of both continuity and change within the artistic culture of Venice. Two broad consecutive phases of development will be distinguished. In the first of these, lasting until around 1500, Renaissance elements typically co-exist in easy combination with the older styles of Venice. Rather than offering a challenge to the age-old assumption that art should serve the city, these innovations proved particularly well suited to visualizing its political values, cultural myths and sacred aspirations. Thus Renaissance art initially served to intensify the idea of the city as all encompassing cultural horizon.


From the early sixteenth century onwards, however, Renaissance art in Venice quickly came to share certain more progressive characteristics with other leading cultural centres in Italy. It increasingly departed from local patterns, types, models or techniques, in the direction of individual expression, and explored more intimate aspects of personal life. It sometimes possessed a newly monumental order and harmony, in keeping with revered models from classical antiquity or with contemporary Renaissance examples. In its approach to sacred, historical or mythological subject matter, it actively addressed the subjectivity of the viewer in an intellectual, psychological or sensual manner. It engaged directly with ideas about the high cultural status of art itself with reference to literary, poetic or aesthetic values. And it also acknowledged the artist as an independent or even god-like creator. This redefinition of visual art in Venice meant that it was no longer wholly contained within the local envelope of the city’s traditional culture.


It is true that the older political and aesthetic ideals of Venice were often referred to or revived within the new approach, but artistic work of the sixteenth century was just as often self-consciously inventive and innovative. Increasingly, figurative artists moved beyond the literal concern with naturalistic accuracy that had helped to realize the perfect image of the city until 1500, introducing references to recent art works, or subjective and original elements. A newly personalized approach to artistic technique, form and iconography emerged that is not always easy to square with the ornate and decorative styles of the past, or with traditional Venetian patriotic or sacred values. The popularity of art itself spread, with the importation or invention of many new image-types, but the determining connection with the immediate local context became less absolute or apparent. Leading painters now often served the aesthetic tastes of private patrons and collectors, or exported bespoke paintings to aristocrats at foreign courts.


Competing against one another for commissions and preferment, sixteenth-century artists in Venice no longer behaved like, or understood themselves as, subservient or nameless artisans. Although no artistic academy emerged in Venice until the early eighteenth century, leading artists and architects of the 1560s were keen to join the recently formed Accademia del Disegno (‘Academy of Design’) in Florence. Allying themselves with progressive artists from elsewhere in Italy, those working in Venice grew ever more self-confident, depicting themselves in inventive self-portraits while their work became the subject of learned debate in literary texts.


To emphasize these changes is not to argue that Renaissance art and Venice were necessarily or absolutely opposed or contradictory. The evident success of a progressive artistic culture suggests the city’s openness to change and development – probably a result of the confidence granted by its unprecedented wealth in this period. It is telling that the progress of the Renaissance only faltered with the economic and political decline of the city after 1550, when its culture began to ossify around a more fixed and backward-looking version of Venezianità. Given that the Renaissance approach had gradually dispensed with the security of older communal and collaborative cultural structures in favour of more individualistic forms of expression, its ability to sustain itself now came into question. Although leading artists of the later sixteenth century maintained family workshops, like their forebears in Venice, these did not typically survive the intensely personalized imprint of the masters who had dominated them. The end of the Renaissance in Venice was, to this extent, inscribed in the very success of its leading exponents.
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Fig. 1


Aerial view of Venice





The city of Venice was built on a series of low islands that were gradually connected via an intricate system of canals, bridges and walkways. Its buildings were erected by driving huge tree trunks into the soft mud of the shallow lagoon. This view features the civic and religious centre of Venice around St. Mark’s Square in the foreground (see also the plan on page 20).
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‘The Most Serene Republic’: Venice at the Outset of the Renaissance


Given the unlikely location of Venice among the watery recesses of a lagoon a mile or so off the coast of northeast Italy, it is no surprise that it possessed a unique culture, at some remove from the social mainstream of Europe (FIG. 1). If the city was not quite ‘another world’, as the fourteenth-century poet Francesco Petrarch described it, it was certainly a mediator between worlds. In the pre-Renaissance centuries, Venice had relied less on a land empire than on the predominance of its merchant fleet at sea. Trading silks and spices from the East with wool and metals from the West, Venice was necessarily dependent on the flow of import and export commodities. The city possessed few raw materials of its own; and it lacked a grand Imperial history, like Rome or Constantinople (modern Istanbul). Perhaps as a result, Venetians developed a heightened sense of the importance of ‘tradition’ and were particularly active in the invention of stories about their own past. They came to share a series of patriotic narratives or myths that highlighted the city’s arbitration between powers and its special sacred destiny.


Origins: Myths of Venice and the basilica of St Mark’s


One particularly favoured story focussed on an act of Venetian peacemaking between the two most powerful leaders in Europe, Pope Alexander III and the Holy Roman Emperor, Frederick Barbarossa, in 1177. The Venetian doge Sebastiano Ziani (reigned 1172–1178) offered shelter to the pope and then helped to smooth over the conflict between the two rulers. He received a series of ceremonial gifts, or trionfi, from Alexander for his efforts, including a sword and an umbrella, which were regularly displayed in centuries to come, especially when the doge processed around the city on Holy Days or in the fulfilment of one or other of the city’s many civic rituals (FIG. 2). • e story also became a favoured subject in visual art, appearing in illuminated manuscripts and also in large-scale narrative paintings decorating the main room of the city’s Ducal Palace, known as the ‘Alexander cycle’ (see FIG. 126).


Another story made the success of Venice appear as pre-destined from the period of early Christianity. From the twelfth century onwards, it was understood that the city had been founded on 25 March 421, the feast of the Annunciation to the Virgin. This supplied an account of Venice’s antiquity and also of its special and continuing protection by the Mother of God herself. The idea of Venice’s sacred destiny was reconfirmed by the arrival of the relics of St Mark from Alexandria in Egypt in 829. According to a thirteenth-century legend, Mark had already been told by an angel that his remains would come to Venice. This is the source of the many subsequent images set up around the city showing a winged lion, symbol of St Mark, holding an open book with the words ‘Pax tibi Marce, evangelista meus’ (‘Peace unto You Mark my Evangelist’). The period between 1100 and 1500 was key to the process of ‘mythogenesis’ in Venice and was focussed particularly on the great building erected at the eastern end of the city’s main piazza to house the relics of the saint: the basilica of St Mark’s (FIG. 3).
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Fig. 2


Matteo Pagan


Detail of Procession in St Mark’s Square on Palm Sunday





1556–9. Woodcut (eight-block xylograph). Museo Correr, Venice.


Doge Lorenzo Priuli (reigned 1556–9) is shown processing. He wears the characteristic oddly shaped corno or ducal hat, and is further identified by an inscription describing him as ‘Il Serenissimo Principe’ or ‘The Most Serene Prince’. His followers carry the ceremonial umbrella and sword awarded by Pope Alexander III some 380 years earlier. The procession is watched by crowds of onlookers, though tellingly the women are confined to the interior of the buildings, viewing the scene from upper windows.
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Fig. 3


St Mark’s Basilica





Erected above previous structures between 1043–73; west facade from the thirteenth century, with the six crowns added ca. 1400, Venice. The four bronze horses seen in this photograph are copies, while all but one of the mosaics are from the post-Renaissance period. Lste antique marble reliefs featuring Hercules can be seen between the arches.


Many of the Renaissance works discussed in this book owe a debt to the example of St Mark’s, or make a definite and explicit reference to the church. Along with the Ducal Palace discussed below, the building stood at the very heart of the city, in both a physical and symbolic sense, functioning as a public monument to its religious and political identity. From the outset this extraordinary building laid more emphasis on the civic power of the city than on the independent identity of the Christian Apostle to whom it was dedicated. St Mark’s was not the Cathedral of Venice but rather the ‘doge’s chapel’, and from the mid-fifteenth century onwards it was physically attached to the Ducal Palace, where the doge lived and the government of Venice was enacted. The ultimate dependence of the church on the seat of city government just to the south is indicative of the Venetian approach to religion, which was carefully controlled by the needs and demands of the state. If Venetian religion was assertively independent of the wider Christian church in both its Roman and Orthodox manifestations, the layout of St Mark’s, with its central plan and five domes, drew pointedly on the lost sixth-century church of the Holy Apostles in Constantinople. This was an association which expressed Venice’s long-standing connection with the Byzantine Empire of which it had formerly been a part, and with which it remained closely connected, given that its lucrative spice trade in the East was in great part conducted through Byzantine territories.


Much else about the building was intended to appear as ancient or time-hallowed. The extensive cycles of mosaics commissioned to adorn its facade and inner ceilings suggested connection with the similar decorations in early Byzantine churches, such as the sixth-century Basilica of San Vitale in Ravenna (FIG. 4). Although the initial teams of mosaicists employed following the erection of the church in the eleventh century were imported from Byzantium itself, a thriving local school soon grew up who were so skilled in their emulation of the Eastern craftsmen that it is now difficult to tell their works apart. In The Stones of Venice (1851–3), the great Victorian John Ruskin noted how the securing of the slabs of multi-coloured marble revetment erected on the lower walls of the church were deliberately left open to view (‘the confessed rivet’). Ruskin, who deplored the coming of the individualistic culture of the Renaissance to the city, especially praised this respectful re-use of precious materials imported from abroad as a characteristically Venetian practice. The (unknown) architect at St Mark’s, Ruskin went on, readily put his own ideas aside, given his ‘care for the preservation of noble work … and more regarded the beauty of his building than his own fame’. For Ruskin, this selfless respect for the past had a quasi-religious dimension; but it also expressed a communal approach that reflected the political and social values of the Republic itself.


There was, however, a much more appropriative dimension to the assemblage of older pre-worked materials from elsewhere at St Mark’s: many of the objects displayed on the facade were plunder from the Sack of Constantinople by European Crusaders in 1204, in which Venice had fully participated and from which it subsequently greatly benefited in political and economic terms. As Ruskin acknowledged, these precious objects were elevated as ‘the trophies of returning victory’, making the facade appear more like ‘a shrine at which to dedicate the splendour of miscellaneous spoil, than the organized expression of any fixed architectural law or religious emotion’. The spolia displayed at St Mark’s proposed an image of ultimate Venetian victory and dominion, but one based on an ideal of social and religious concord between different elements. The plunder from Constantinople reinforced the earlier modelling of the church, giving further credence to the idea that Venice, with its growing empire, was the natural heir to the glories of Byzantium: one that inevitably intensified again following its final fall to the Ottoman Turks in 1453. But this notion did not entail stylistic uniformity. The Venetians proudly displayed classicizing marble reliefs featuring Hercules and four bronze horses from the late antique period on the facade, among the parti-coloured marbles of the portals and a growing forest of Gothic pinnacles, finials and crockets.
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Fig. 4


St Mark’s Basilica





See Fig. 3. Interior view from the central nave towards the crossing and apse. The extensive mosaic cycles rising up above the marble revetments on the lower walls were begun in the eleventh century.


The Ducal Palace and the Porta della Carta


Such an approach appeared always to validate ‘tradition’ and the workmanship of many other cultures of the past, while at the same time suggesting that this ended with the present victory and ongoing predominance of Venice itself. The incorporation of different elements or borrowings into the Venetian present discouraged artistic individualism, or sought to accommodate it within a panoply of equally acceptable styles. Diversity, both in the sense of material and form, better expressed the idea of the city as a free and equitable Republican community with a long and illustrious past. Something similar is at play in the Ducal Palace, where the unknown architects engaged in stylistic pluralism from the outset (FIG. 5). If St Mark’s was a building in the Byzantine style that was gradually Gothicized over the centuries, the Ducal Palace was only begun in the mid-fourteenth century, and was largely complete a little over a century later. Despite this much shorter gestation, allusions to traditionally distinct architectural traditions were central to its conception, with Gothic and Islamic elements freely combined, probably to suggest overlapping spheres of Venetian influence between West and East. The city’s habit of appropriation and amalgamation means that we cannot precisely pin down the derivation of the different elements included. The traceries above the double rows of colonnades on the lower part of the building, for example, owe something, at least, to Moorish screen walls. And if the overall effect is unmistakably Gothic, the inlaid lozenge pattern of red and white marble tiles on the walls nonetheless has a precedent in Persian decorative tradition. The various elements associate freely together as if they are knowing references or quotations, and this lightness of touch seems actively to deny any sense of the building’s inner depth or structure. The dense repetition of elements in the lower colonnades, which contrast in a vibrant two-to-one rhythm, like the subtle variations within a given surface – each pattern of tiles is slightly different – generates a rich and vibrating surface that enters into a fluid relationship with the waters of the Basin beneath.
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Fig. 5


Ducal Palace View of the south front from St Mark’s Basin, Venice.





Begun in 1341.
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Fig. 6


Filippo Calendario (?)


Venecia





Before 1355. Stone relief on the west front of the Ducal Palace, facing the Piazzetta, Venice.


The Venetian state is equated with the cardinal virtue of Justice, shown as a woman holding a sword seated on a Solomonic throne with two lions. The inscription identifies the two defeated figures below her as ‘furies of the sea’, and the city’s maritime power is also indicated by the waves at the bottom.


If the range of Venetian international interests is suggested by the exterior appearance of the Ducal Palace, then its extended box-like shape was a response to the internal politics of the Republic itself. Its effect of low horizontality was quite directly determined by the political arrangement that followed the serrata or ‘closure’ of 1296, when around 200 noble families of the city took control of the Venetian government by hereditary right, with all male members sitting on the so-called ‘Great Council’ to vote on matters of government (including the election of the doge himself from their number). The need to accommodate a large and inevitably growing number of patrician representatives within a single interior meeting hall governed ideas for building the new palace, and by the 1360s the so-called Sala del Maggiore Consiglio (Hall of the Great Council) was already completed. The long westward extension of the south or ‘Molo’ facade, where all but the two most easterly windows give onto the vast new room, is indicative of this practical need.


The ideal of Republican assembly was expressed in figurative sculptures placed on the facade suggesting that the palace (and by extension the Venetian state) was the seat of divinely sanctioned justice (FIG. 6). It was also reflected in the colonnades at ground level and on the piano nobile (main floor). The colonnades reinforce the illusion of openness or accessibility to the outside world, contrasting with the kind of heavily fortified town halls in city Republics elsewhere in Italy, such as Florence and Siena, or in service of princely courts such as Ferrara or Urbino. The decorative crenellations appended to the top of the building, which also have a source in Islamic examples, have a similar kind of meaning. Their visual delicacy appears like an ironic reference to the more functional deployment of such features in the muscular defensive architecture of many medieval castles. Expressing the supreme confidence of a period in which Venetian political power, both on land and sea, rose to unprecedented heights, the Ducal Palace suggests that impregnability need not always appear as a matter of physical strength or social exclusion.


Work on the west front of the Ducal Palace facing the so-called Piazzetta continued into the fifteenth century and involved the physical connection of the building to St Mark’s itself via a new ceremonial entrance known as the Porta della Carta (FIG. 7) by the local sculptors Giovanni and Bartolomeo Bon (ca. 1360–1442 and ca. 1400–ca. 1465). Visitors to the palace would now enter through a grand and richly decorated portal. Looking up beyond it, they would encounter an almost life-sized sculpture of the current doge (Francesco Foscari, reigned 1423–1457) kneeling before the symbolic lion of St Mark, who holds open his book with the famous words confirming Venice as the saint’s divinely pre-destined resting place. To either side, allegorical sculptures of Virtues re-emphasize the office of the doge as sacred, and as the eye moves further upward beyond the elaborate tracery of the window and the richly decorated pinnacles and crockets to either side, further figurative sculptures intervene to reconfirm the message. St Mark himself appears in the heavenly realm in a round shell niche. Above him, a composite allegorical female figure seated on a throne with lions to either side deliberately recalls Calendario’s sculpture of Venecia on the west facade of the palace (see FIG. 6). Although now identified as ‘Justice’ by an inscription below her, she is still a composite figure who can stand for both, just as her protective lions refer to the divinely inspired Wisdom of Solomon and to the imagery of St Mark.


These patriotic meanings are developed through the powerful vertical axis of the Porta della Carta, with the current representative of state power placed directly beneath the sacred and allegorical figures in order to suggest that he always acts with their authority. The exaggerated verticality of the new structure was to this extent more than just a response to the narrowness of the given space between church and palace. But there is also an important horizontal dimension, given that the gateway connects the buildings at the heart of Venetian political and sacred authority in Venice. The Ducal Palace (especially the west-faing facade) was seen as the seat of justice, and thus the imagery at the top of the Carta directly extends that already featured on the exterior of the building to the right. The emphasis on the saint, however, refers to St Mark’s to the left. Thus the iconography of the Carta reconfirms the authority of the two structures it conjoins, symbolizing their especially intimate connection within Venetian culture. As visitors approached the grand entrance, they could not also fail to notice and engage with the pre-existing sculptures just to the right and left: a corner relief on the palace shows the Judgement of Solomon, reconfirming once again that the seat of Venetian government is a place of divinely inspired wisdom and justice. To the left, on the south-facing wall of St Mark’s displaying spolia from Constantinople, a fifth-century porphyry sculpture featuring the Four Tetrarchs now served to express Venetian dominion over the former lands of the Byzantine Empire.
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Fig. 7


Giovanni di Bertuccio Bon and Bartolomeo Bon


Porta della Carta





1438—43. Stone and marble. Ceremonial entrance to the Ducal Palace, Venice.
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Fig. 8


Plan of St Mark’s Square





1.    Basilica of St Mark’s


2.    St Mark’s Square


3.    Piazzetta


4.    Loggetta


5.    Riva degli Schiavone


6.    The Mint (La Zecca)


7.    Library of St Mark’s


8.    Procuratie Nuove


9.    Procuratie Vecchie


10.  Torre d’Orologio


11.  Porta della Carta


12.  Ducal Palace


13.  Arco Foscari


14.  Scala dei Giganti


In many ways the Porta della Carta represents a high point in the gradual move away from the severe and reserved monumentality of the older Byzantine style in Venice. And to this extent, it is a prime example of the kind of ‘incrustation’ of surfaces in the Veneto-Gothic style that Ruskin so admired. Sculpture and architecture combine, such that it is not really possible to think of the one as separate from the other. The Porta also features the intense polychromy typical of the period. The sculptors used a particularly wide range of parti-coloured materials, including pale or white marbles from Istria and Carrara alongside red, green and grey variants from Verona and elsewhere. The sumptuous effect of the highly polished stones was reinforced by gilding and painting in the favoured late-Gothic colours of gold and blue: the former used to pick out the architectural details around the figures, while the latter emphasized the darkness of the recesses behind them.


It is also telling that Ruskin rejected what he saw as the ‘insipid confusion’ of the Porta, understanding its imagery as already tainted by ‘the pestilent art of the Renaissance’. St Mark is presented in the format of a lifelike portrait, and naked putti reminiscent of the art of classical Greece or Rome cavort among the acanthus leaves to either side. The sculpture of the kneeling doge is a nineteenth-century replacement, but the lost original must have allowed Francesco Foscari a newly forceful presence in the public arena at the heart of Venice. We do not know just how lifelike Foscari’s image originally was, but it probably introduced a note of naturalism, and perhaps also of self-assertive individualism, that reflected his high profile as an unusually powerful doge who dramatically expanded the Venetian land empire. The confidently eclectic imagery of the Porta draws on the mix of Gothic and early Renaissance styles that had become fashionable in northern mainland Italy by the early 1440s. It might even reflect the beginnings of the Venetian reorientation towards the West: one that was to emerge as a key aspect of the city’s politics and artistic culture over the course of the next 150 years.
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Fig. 9 Bartolomeo Bon (?)


Ca’Foscari





See Fig. 10. Detail of the first- and second-storey windows of Ca’Foscari with, above, marble reliefs of putti bearing the Foscari arms.
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Innovation as Tradition: 1440–75


The imposing palace built by Doge Foscari in the early 1450s, known as Ca’Foscari, appears to continue the pattern of self-assertiveness evident in the Porta della Carta (see FIG. 10). Prior to Foscari’s acquisition of the site, it had been state-owned for some decades. He now quickly replaced the existing Byzantine building with one in a Gothic style on a larger scale. By comparison with the two adjacent palaces owned by the Giustiniani family, and also rebuilt during the 1450s, Ca’Foscari is larger and grander, with a more extensive and elaborate facade. It features an eight-windowed double window arcade, for example, rather than the rows of six and four that appear on the Giustiniani buildings. If these differences make Foscari’s palace appear to be a departure from the communally orientated culture of Venice, nonetheless many of its features reinforce the traditional values of the city. As is the case with many of the works discussed in this and the following chapter, elements of innovation in form or design were understood less as a challenge to ‘Venetian tradition’ than as an opportunity for its further definition or realization.


Ca’Foscari provides, indeed, a fine example of the kind of domestic palace architecture that had first emerged some two centuries before, and that had since become characteristic in the city. It features a three-fold division on its facade, with the all-important central part emphasized by the window arcades. These openings front a large living space within, known as the portego, while the so-called androne, or ground floor, is left relatively plain, reflecting its more humdrum function as a place of business where the family’s merchandise was stored. It has a single unadorned water entrance to facilitate the arrival and departure of goods and services. The popularity of this kind of casa fondaco, a private residence which also functioned as a warehouse, is an indication that Venetian patricians saw their mercantile activities as wholly consistent with their status as noblemen. This merchant–noble combination was quite anomalous, given that aristocracies across much of Europe were especially concerned to distance themselves from the perceived taint of trade. The visual openness of the facade design of Ca’Foscari, with its emphasis on ornate patterns of fenestration, rather than on the indications of defensive martial power common in equivalent palaces on the mainland of Italy, also gives expression to the open cultural values of the Republic. Although Foscari’s new palace is larger than those of the Giustiniani nearby, it remains physically connected to them and shares the same essentials of design. Indeed, the three facades were always intended to make up a single architectural front around the wide curve of the Grand Canal at this point. The effect of physical and decorative unity between the palaces gives visual expression to patrician values of communality and also suggests the limits that this placed on more individualistic forms of expression.


All three facades make particularly insistent reference to the architecture of the Ducal Palace. The cusped Gothic window arches with quatrefoil mouldings above the second storey on Ca’Foscari are particularly derivative. Such borrowings were as relevant to the Giustiniani family as they were to Doge Foscari himself, current leader of the Venetian state. They can also be seen as a sign of the continuing grip of ‘official’ or public values in Venice in the mid-fifteenth century, even in the apparently more private domain of the family home. The most notable new element on the facade of Ca’Foscari, the large and prominent marble relief insert above the upper row of windows featuring all’antica reliefs of naked putti bearing the Foscari coat of arms, is not so radical a departure from precedent as it might first appear (FIG. 9). Stone or marble framing panels had long been used to enclose and highlight the piano-nobile (main floor) windows in Venetian palaces, a practice which might have its origin in Islamic architecture. In this case, however, the architect – probably Bartolomeo Bon – more directly adapted the pairs of putti he had previously featured on the upper part of the Porta della Carta, where they also hold up the Foscari coat of arms (see FIG. 7). The reuse of the motif may be a sign of Foscari’s individualistic concern for visibility in Venice. Yet its transfer from an official to a domestic context might equally be understood as a sign of continuity between public and private life in Venice in the mid-fifteenth century. On the facade of Ca’Foscari, as on the Porta della Carta, the all’antica putti reliefs are comfortably integrated into a primarily Gothic design. In both cases, classically derived nudes occur on the facades of prominent architectural structures, indicating that the Renaissance in Venice initially showed itself in an essentially open and public context.
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Fig. 10 Bartolomeo Bon (?) Ca’Foscari





Built 1453–7 for Doge Francesco Foscari. Left bank of the Grand Canal, Venice. To the left are the two near-contemporary palazzi owned by the Giustiniani family.


Painting in two Venetian chapels of the mid-fifteenth century


A similarly fluid mixture of Gothic and Renaissance styles is apparent in paintings from the period, such as those in the San Tarasio Chapel at the church of San Zaccaria, commissioned under the auspices of the doge’s sister, Elena Foscari, abbess of the presiding Benedictine convent. Three altarpieces by the prominent painters Antonio Vivarini (ca. 1418–ca. 1480) and Giovanni d’Alemagna (active 1441–1450) were complemented, in the spaces between the arches above, by a series of ultra-progressive frescoes by the young Florentine Andrea del Castagno (1423–1457) (FIG. 11). € e altarpiece illustrated here may deliberately recall the renowned Byzantine Pala d’Oro (‘altarpiece of gold’) erected on the High Altar in St Mark’s in the mid-fourteenth century, insofar as it too is free-standing and painted on both sides. A visual connection to the glittering mosaics and Gothic crockets and pinnacles featured in the ‘mother church’ was in any case essential to its conception. Like many other Venetian altarpieces of the time, the work shows rows of saints, both painted and sculpted, who are lined up either side of a larger image of the Virgin and Child (though this latter panel, and those of Saints Martin and Blaise to either side, are not original to the ensemble). The sacred figures are presented in a manner that discourages our perception of them as realistic three-dimensional forms in space. Instead, we are made aware of the altarpiece’s status as a physical object through the emphasis given to its highly coloured and ornately wrought surfaces. The elaborate mouldings of the frame, covered in expensive gold leaf, dominate the painted field, flattening the surface while also asserting its expressive priority.


The painting of the altarpiece itself also interacts with the stone altar below it, which shares some of its carved features, suggesting that it too was intended as an integral part of the design. The mixed media effect reflects the range of craftsmen involved. Vivarini and d’Alemagna’s partnership indicates the collaborative nature of such a pictorial enterprise. We do not know the name of the stone-carver, but that of the frame-maker and gilder, Lodovico da Forlì (active 1425–76), is boldly inscribed on the altarpiece surface, indicating that he was perceived as having an equal part in its creation. Individual authorship was apparently less important than the success of the overall visual ensemble, utilizing a range of artists and materials.


The altarpiece appears to possess its own internally derived illumination, rather than depending on natural light from the windows behind. Nonetheless, the work is conceived in accordance with the verticality of the Gothic architecture of the chapel itself, and especially with the narrow pointed shapes of the windows behind it. Above these, Castagno painted monumental frescoed figures of God and the saints, his large and powerfully formed figures markedly more three-dimensional than those in the altarpiece below. He had recently arrived from the artistically progressive city of Florence and introduced an emphasis on illusionistic forms that was unprecedented in Venice. There is little evidence that anyone other than the painter himself was involved in making this novel stylistic departure. But Castagno and his patrons probably saw the frescoes simply as part of an on-going programme of unified decoration. His monumental sacred figures supported the altarpieces, just as they respond to the narrow Gothic spaces of the chapel wall itself. It may even be that the severe suppression of colour in Castagno’s monumental forms was calculated to offset and highlight the richly decorative approach of the High Altarpiece and other works below. Rather than seeing Castagno as an outsider, whose approach had little to do with the other craftsmen working in the chapel, it would be more accurate to understand his frescoes as extending further the existing local ethos of medium and stylistic diversity. It is no accident that Castagno’s enormous seated figure of God the Father appears directly above the Virgin and Child in the altarpiece below, his vast and looming figure quite literally pointed out by the extended central pinnacle of its frame.
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Fig. 11


Interior of San Tarasio Chapel


Antonio Vivarini and Giovanni d’Alemagna, Polyptych of the Virgin,





1443, tempera on panel, 320 × 600 cm (10 ft 6 in × 19 ft 8¼ in), and frescoes by Andrea del Castagno of God the Father, Saints and Evangelists. San Zaccaria, Venice.


The three panels at the centre of the polyptych were inserted in 1839 from an earlier altarpiece of 1385, in place of the original cupboard for relics. The back of the altarpiece features paintings of the enthroned God the Father and 14 saints, along with the dead Christ above.
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Fig. 12


Michele Giambono, Andrea del Castagno and Jacopo Bellini


Right vault of the Mascoli Chapel, showing the mosaics of the Visitation and Dormition of the Virgin





1442–51. Mosaic. St Mark’s, Venice.


The barrel-vaulted Mascoli Chapel was built in 1430 as an extension to the north transept of St Mark’s, and was yet another commission initiated by Doge Francesco Foscari.
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